# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/23/2023 3:46 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102298-1

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 84426-1-I

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## DAN YOUNG, APPELLANT

v.

TODD S. RAYAN ET UX., SAMUEL WILKENS ET UX., PENNY ROHR ET VIR, AND ALTHAUSER RAYAN ABBARNO, a Washington Limited Partnership,

#### RESPONDENTS.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Law Offices of Dan R. Young Camille Minogue, WSBA #56405 Dan R. Young, WSBA # 12020 Attorneys for Appellant Young 1000 Second Ave, Ste 3200 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 829-9947 camille@truthandjustice.legal

# **

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is appellant Dan Young who asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

#### **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The published decision is *Dan Young v. Todd S. Rayan*, No. 84426-1-I (Wash. Ct. App. July 24, 2023) ("*Rayan*"). A copy of the Slip Opinion ("Slp. Opn.") is in Appendix A.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should the Supreme Court resolve the express conflict between published decisions of the Court of Appeals in the instant case (Div. I) and *Mason v. Mason*, 19 Wn. App.2d 803, 831, 497 P.3d 431 (2021) (Div. II), *review denied*, 199 Wn.2d 1005 (2022) and *Scott v. Am. Express Nat'l Bank*, 22 Wn. App.2d 258, 514 P.3d 695 (2022) (Div. II), *review denied*, 200 Wn.2d 1021 (2022) by adopting the rule expressed by Division II?
- 2. Should the Supreme Court recognize exceptions to the application of the litigation privilege based on considerations of

public policy?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The ultimate issue in this case is whether the litigation privilege shields attorneys and a law firm receptionist from being sued for defamation and a larger actionable conspiracy. The acts giving rise to the claims are their signing perjured declarations and a stray defamatory comment by respondent Todd Rayan in a letter. These acts were in furtherance of a scheme to cause appellant Young harm.

To understand the context in which the instant case arises, one needs to consider a series of events involving the 2004 will of Robert Parman, his death in 2005, a divorce in 2017, two underlying lawsuits related to the 2004 will, the *intestate* probate of Robert's estate in 2020, appellant Young's obtaining a copy of the 2004 will in 2021 following two telephone calls to the receptionist at the law firm acting as custodian of the will, and Young's subsequent filing of the will in both of the underlying lawsuits in which Young was representing the plaintiff.

The perjured declarations at issue in this appeal were filed by M. Owen Gabrielson, defense attorney in two underlying lawsuits, with the purpose of hiding Robert's will, undermining Young's relationship with his client, and attacking Young's character before the superior court judge hearing the case, and not for any legitimate purpose related to the defense of the underlying lawsuit.

Robert Parman's Will. Robert Parman died of esophageal cancer on February 15, 2005. CP 208, ¶ 10. Robert and Ruth signed their wills, prepared by attorney John Turner, on October 6, 2004. CP 208, ¶ 9; CP 226 (Robert's will); CP 222 (Ruth's will). The wills were parallel, each providing that upon the death of the survivor, Shawn and Elizabeth would each receive 50% of the Renata Lane property. *Id*.

Shawn Parman was the only son and heir of the senior Parmans. CP 181-182. Elizabeth Bartlett (f/k/a Elizabeth Parman) was Shawn's wife and Robert's daughter-in-law. CP 225.

Shawn and Elizabeth's Divorce. Shawn and Elizabeth divorced in 2017. One property not disposed of in the divorce was a house on Renata Lane and a contiguous seven-acre horse farm developed by Elizabeth over the years. CP 287. The senior Parmans lived with Shawn and Elizabeth and their two sons in the house and shared expenses for many years. CP 388. Elizabeth had invested significant amounts of her separate property into the development of the Renata Lane property. CP 289-91; 206.

First Underlying Lawsuit. Following the divorce of Shawn and Elizabeth, Ruth Parman changed her will to cut Elizabeth out of any inheritance and left all her property and former community property to Shawn. CP 228-229. Elizabeth filed a lawsuit against Ruth and Shawn in 2018 under theories of unjust enrichment, promissory estoppel, tortious interference with business expectancy, and other theories, based upon the senior Parmans' promises to leave Elizabeth 50% of the Renata Lane property in their wills. CP 287-294. That lawsuit was

entitled *Parman v. Parman*, Thurston County Superior Court cause no. 18-2-03269-34. *Id*.

On August 19, 2020, Attorney M. Owen Gabrielson, representing the Estate of Ruth Parman, whose personal representative was Shawn Parman, took the deposition of Elizabeth in *Parman v. Parman*. CP 178. Elizabeth testified that she had seen the wills of Ruth and Robert and described the parallel provisions. CP 181-82, 183; 208, ¶ 9. Elizabeth also testified that she did not have a copy of Robert's will. CP 184.

Intestate Probate of Robert's Estate. Gabrielson also represented Shawn Parman and the Estate of Robert Parman. CP 49. The very next month, on September 17, 2020, he filed an intestate probate of Robert Parman's estate. CP 295-297. Shawn was appointed personal representative. *Id.* In his declaration of completion of the Estate of Robert Parman, filed on October 28, 2021, Shawn represented to the probate court that Robert Parman died without a will. CP 298, ¶ 1.

**Second Underlying Lawsuit.** Meanwhile, in *Parman v*.

Parman, Gabrielson represented and argued that there was no evidence that Robert Parman ever agreed to will Elizabeth anything. CP 34; CP 170, ¶ 2. Robert's will on its face shows otherwise. CP 224; CP 387.

Attorney Young, representing Elizabeth in *Parman v. Parman*, interpreted Gabrielson's initiation of the Robert Parman intestate probate as a brazen attempt to carve out Robert Parman's interest in the community property of his widow, Ruth, so as to reduce the property available to be recovered by Elizabeth in *Parman v. Parman*. CP 379-380. This gave rise to the second underlying lawsuit of *Bartlett v. Estate of Robert Parman*, Thurston County Superior Court cause no. 21-2-01093-34. CP 390. Elizabeth later sought to have the first and second lawsuits consolidated. For ease of reference, these two lawsuits are referred to as the "underlying litigation."

**Search for Robert's Will.** Young decided to telephone attorney Turner, the drafter of Robert's will, and found his name on the WSBA website. CP 170, ¶ 2. Young called that number

on October 22, 2021, and asked for him (CP 170, ¶¶ 2-3.), but the receptionist, respondent Penny Rohr, only offered that Turner was not there. CP 131. In actuality, Turner had retired (CP 100; CP 397), and the telephone number was that of the law firm of Althauser, Rayan and Abbarno, who had custody of Turner's former client files. CP 170, ¶ 3.

Rohr asked Young what he was calling about, and Young stated he was looking for the will of Robert Parman. CP 170, ¶ 3. She said she would look into it, then after a pause stated that attorney Sam Wilkens was handling that matter, and that Wilkens would call Young the following week. CP 170, ¶ 3.

When Wilkens did not call Young back as promised, Young called again on November 8, 2021 to follow up, and again spoke with Rohr, who answered the telephone. CP 171, ¶ 6. Young asked to speak to Sam Wilkens. *Id.* Rohr asked what it was about, and when Young stated, "the will of Robert Parman," she recognized Young from the previous call and placed Young on hold for several minutes. *Id.* When she came back on the

line, she voluntarily stated that she would mail Young a copy of Robert's will, apparently at the direction of Samuel Wilkens. *Id.* Young received a copy of the will the next day by email. *Id.*; CP 224.

After Young obtained a copy of the will from the Althauser firm, he filed it with the court in connection with a motion for reconsideration of the court's dismissal of *Bartlett v*. *Estate of Robert Parman*. CP 98; CP 218, ¶17; CP 224-227.

Later Young subpoenaed the Althauser firm for a copy of Robert's will. CP 51. Rayan responded with a letter objection and the gratuitous defamatory statement that Young had obtained the will "through fraudulent means." CP 52. The letter was sent to others not representing the parties. CP 165.

Gabrielson's Procurement of Perjured Declarations.

After learning of the Althauser firm's voluntary release of the will of Robert Parman to Young, Gabrielson developed a scheme designed to prevent access to the contents of Robert Parman's will, put Young in a false light, attack Young's character, and

create a conflict of interest between Young and his client by obtaining declarations from the Althauser firm. CP 329-330 at 9-10. Respondents knowingly and willingly participated in Gabrielson's scheme. CP 330-331 at 13-14.

Respondents' participation was procured when Gabrielson had a conversation with respondent Rayan, in which conversation Rayan does not recall exactly what was discussed, but "the crux of it was that [Rayan] was going to obtain written statements from [his] staff so [Rayan] could figure out exactly what happened and why [Robert Parman's will] was released." CP 329-330 at 9-10. Rayan testified at his deposition that the will "shouldn't have been" released. CP 330 at 10. Gabrielson intimated a potential lawsuit against the Althauser firm by stating that "there might be a remedy with the Althauser firm for opening a former client's file to someone else." CP 104.

Gabrielson "asked what the circumstances were surrounding the release of [the will] to someone who is representing a party opposed to his client." CP 330 at 12. Rayan and his

firm stood ready to support Gabrielson without further investigation. CP 330 at 11-13.

Rohr and Wilkens each signed declarations under penalty of perjury, indicating their understanding that their declarations would be used in litigation they admittedly knew nothing about for Gabrielson's benefit. CP 330 at 11. Receptionist Rohr admitted as much. CP 341 at 24. She signed a declaration without a caption. CP 343-344. Rohr never saw her full declaration with the caption as filed. CP 341 at 25. Yet her declaration with a caption for both of the underlying cases was filed. CP 121-122.

Penny Rohr stated in her declaration dated December 17, 2021, and filed with the court that Young "indicated that he represented the Personal Representative of the Estate of Robert Parman." CP 121,¶4. This statement is intentionally false and perjurious, because Young never represented the Estate of Robert Parman, and never told anyone that he did. CP 171,¶6. Rohr also forgot the first telephone call Young made to the

Althauser firm on October 22, 2021. CP 337, dep at 7-8. Young's second conversation with Rohr was also on November 8<sup>th</sup>, not November 9<sup>th</sup>, as stated by Rohr. CP 337 at 8; CP 170, ¶ 3.

Similarly, attorney Wilkens signed an uncaptioned declaration. CP 349 at 4; CP 360-61. He believed when he drafted the declaration, it would be used in a legal proceeding. CP 357 at 36. But his same signed declaration with a caption filled in with respect to both underlying cases was also filed. CP 118-119. They acted with reckless disregard of how their declarations would be used and for what purposes. It was an expedient way out of their perceived predicament: they blamed Young for what Gabrielson alleged to be their violation of RPC 1.6 and actually claimed that Young misrepresented who he was to obtain the will of Robert Parman.

Respondent Wilkens stated in his declaration dated December 17, 2021, and filed in the case that "to the best of my recollection, I talked with Mr. Dan Young over the phone on or

around November 9, 2021. Mr. Young was in search of the original Last Will and Testament of Robert Parman, if any. Mr. Young represented that he was an attorney representing the Personal Representative of the estate of Robert Parman." CP 118, ¶ 4. This statement was knowingly false, as Young never talked to Samuel Wilkens at any time; never sought the "original will" of Robert Parman; and never stated that Young represented the PR of the Estate of Robert Parman. CP 171-172, ¶ ¶ 6-7.

Gabrielson then procured those declarations from Wilkens and Rohr and filed them with the court on January 10, 2022, in support of Gabrielson's motion to strike and seal Robert Parman's will (CP 118, 121) both in *Parman v. Ruth Parman* and in *Parman v. Robert Parman*. CP 98, 100. Six pages of the ten-page motion constituted a purposeful attack on Young's character and an attempt to put him in a false light due to Young's alleged misconduct in obtaining a copy of Robert's will, rather than the contents of the will itself and the merits of the case. CP 98-99; CP 104-107. Robert's and Ruth's wills support the

contention that the senior Parmans wanted to leave 50% of the Renata Lane property to Elizabeth. CP 220, 224.

False Criminal Allegation. Gabrielson also leveled in his motion the serious criminal charge of impersonation against Young — criminal impersonation by "pretend[ing] to be a representative of some person or organization and do[ing] an act in his . . . pretended capacity with intent to defraud" in violation of RCW 9A.60.040. CP 107. Gabrielson furthered his scheme to place Young in a false light by actually calling the Centralia Police Department to report Young's alleged conduct, conduct of which Gabrielson had no personal knowledge whatsoever, and which did not involve court testimony. CP 420-424.

The declarations (CP 343-44; CP 360-361) and Rayan's letter (CP 52) allowed Gabrielson to attack Young before the superior court judge within the underlying litigation. CP 98-101; CP 67-72. There was no evidentiary hearing or oral testimony—just the perjured declarations from Wilkens and Rohr procured by Gabrielson, the defamatory letter from Rayan, and

the continued efforts by Gabrielson to place Young in a false light.

In ruling on Gabrielson's motion to strike and seal the will of Robert Parman, the trial court explicitly stated that it was not making "any credibility determinations or resol[ving] the differences between the statements of Mr. Wilkens, Ms. Rohr, or Mr. Young." CP 93-94; CP 47, ¶ 12.

At the motion hearing, the trial court found that Young had obtained the will in a manner that was "not . . . lawful." CP 47, ¶12. The trial court stated that the circumstances of how the will was obtained was "a violation of the RPCs, RPC 1.6." CP 87. However, RPC 1.6 is not a "law," and it was Wilkens, not Young, who had the burden to protect confidential information under RPC 1.6, if in fact the will was confidential. RPC 1.6.

Gabrielson's accusing Young of criminal conduct in a case in which Young was simply plaintiff's attorney deprived Young of a way to meaningfully clear his name and was aimed at driving a conflict-of-interest wedge between Young and his client while

undermining Young's credibility through putting him in a false light before the court in the underlying case.

Bar Grievance. Based on Wilkens's perjured declaration, Young filed a grievance with the WSBA on January 12, 2022. CP 124-26. The WSBA is likely waiting for this before litigation to conclude making any findings. Nevertheless, in his response to the grievance Wilkens contradicted his declaration by stating that (1) Young did not directly represent who Young was representing in the fictitious telephone call Wilkens described in Wilkens's declaration but (2) Young misrepresented by omission in not stating who Young was representing. CP 384. Wilkens's earlier assertion under penalty of perjury in his declaration was that Young expressly represented that Young was representing the Estate of Robert Parman. CP 118-119, ¶ 4. This is a major pivot and change in Wilkens's story.

Young filed the instant lawsuit on January 18, 2022, alleging defamation, false light invasion of privacy and civil

conspiracy against the Althauser law firm, Todd Rayan, Penny Rohr and Samuel Wilkens. CP 1-7.

The Larger Actionable Conspiracy. In addition to the procured perjured declarations, Gabrielson engaged in other conduct to pursue an improper and extrinsic end in *Parman v. Parman*.

Gabrielson was methodical and calculating in his efforts to place Young in a false light. On December 14, 2021, in a "limited objection" to a motion to set supersedeas filed by Young in *Parman v. Parman*, Gabrielson agreed with the supersedeas amount but out of the blue objected to Young's "mischaracterization of facts" (CP 367), asking the court to somehow "take notice." CP 369. Young filed a reply denying any misrepresentation to the court. CP 377. This set the stage for the next step in Gabrielson's scheme.

Continuing a little more than a week later, having already obtained the perjured declarations of Wilkens and Rohr, but not disclosing their existence to Young, Gabrielson purported to

conduct a CR 26(i) conference in the underlying litigation. He and his co-counsel Brian Muchinsky, who represented Shawn personally in *Parman v. Parman*, attempted to browbeat Young and demanded that Young "refute" the accuracy of the perjured declarations of Wilkens and Rohr which Young had never seen. CP 362-366. Young refused to do so, although he denied any misrepresentation. CP 362.

At around the same time on December 22, 2021, Gabrielson called Detective Timothy O'Dell of the Centralia Police Department. CP 420. In furtherance of his scheme to put Young in a false light, Gabrielson filed a telephonic report of a crime having been committed by Young based upon the sworn declarations of Rohr and Wilkens alleging that Young misrepresented his status to them. CP 421.

As part of his investigation, Det. O'Dell called Rayan, who "stated that he himself drafted the Declaration for [Rohr] and [Wilkens] based on their accounts." CP 424. But his account contradicts Rohr's sworn testimony at her deposition,

where she stated, referring to her declaration, "I wrote it myself." CP 337 at 8. It also contradicts Wilkens's testimony that Rayan approached Wilkens and asked Wilkens "to put down [Wilkens's] memory of the incident . . . into a declaration." CP 349 at 5. Young later asked Wilkens' at the deposition, "So the declaration shown in Exhibit 1 is something you wrote down yourself?" CP 350 at 8-9. Wilkens answered, "Correct." CP 350 at 9.

Some two and one-half weeks after Gabrielson's report to the police, Gabrielson filed a motion to strike and seal the copy of Robert Parman's will that Young had filed. CP 98. Gabrielson attached the perjured declarations of Rohr and Wilkens. Gabrielson then argued that "[a]ccording to two sworn declarations," Young obtained a copy of the will "by representing himself as the attorney for Robert Parman's Estate." [Bold in original.] CP 98. A majority of the motion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Exhibit 1 at the deposition was the Declaration of Samuel Wilkens without caption. CP 349 at 2.

addressed Young's alleged criminal impersonation in violation of RCW 9A.60.040 (CP 107) and Young's alleged improperly obtaining of a copy of the will. CP 104-107.

The court entered an order in the underlying litigation striking and sealing the copy of Robert Parman's will in *Bartlett* v. *Estate of Robert Parman* (CP 48) and an order only sealing the will in *Parman v. Parman*. CP 87-89.

**Procedural Background.** Following discovery, respondents moved for summary judgment of dismissal of Young's claims, based primarily on the litigation privilege. CP 24-25. Young argued that the "larger actionable conspiracy" exception set forth in *Dexter v. Spokane County Health Dist.*, 76 Wn. App. 372, 375, 884 P.2d 1353 (1994) (Div. III) was applicable. CP 142-145.

The trial court granted respondents' motion and dismissed all of Young's claims on summary judgment. CP 428. The trial court rejected the arguments that the statements at issue were not related to the underlying litigation and were part of a larger

conspiracy, thus concluding that the litigation privilege applied to the declarations of Rohr and Wilkens and Rayan's letter. RP (8-22-22) 35-37. Young timely filed a notice of appeal. CP 429.

In a published opinion, Division I affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Young's case on summary judgment, declining to consider any public policy exceptions to the litigation privilege, which the Court considered absolute.

Appellant timely filed this petition for review.

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The *Rayan* Decision of Division I is in Conflict with Recently Published Decisions in Division II. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

In the ruling at issue here, Division I has expressly declined to follow a Division II case, namely *Mason v. Mason*, 19 Wn. App.2d 803, 831, 497 P.3d 431 (2021), *review denied*, 199 Wn.2d 1005 (2022). *Rayan, Slp Op.* at 15.

By extension, Division I has also declined to follow the progeny of *Mason* in Division II, e.g., *Scott v. Am. Express Nat'l* 

Bank, 22 Wn. App.2d 258.

The "litigation privilege" is a judicially created privilege that protects participants — including attorneys, parties, and witnesses — in a judicial proceeding against civil liability for statements they make in the course of that proceeding. *See, e.g., Mason v. Mason*, 19 Wn. App.2d 803, 830-31, *Deatherage v. Examining Bd. of Psychology*, 134 Wn.2d 131, 135-36, 948 P.2d 828 (1997). As applied to witnesses, the privilege is sometimes referred to as witness immunity, and under it, "[a]s a general rule, witnesses in judicial proceedings are absolutely immune from suit based on their testimony." *Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens & Assocs. Eng'rs, Inc.*, 113 Wn.2d 123, 125, 776 P.2d 666 (1989).

However, the Supreme Court later stated that "while some statements of the rule make it appear to be absolute, it is not." *Wynn v. Earin*, 163 Wn.2d 361, 373-374, 181 P.3d 806 (2008) ("public policy justification for applying witness immunity rule is outweighed by the interest in protecting confidential disclosures made during medical treatment"). Division II stated

that "we apply litigation privilege where the conduct bears some relation to a judicial proceeding and where compelling public policy justifications support its application." *Scott*, 22 Wn. App.2d 258, 265-266.

In *Mason*, Division II noted that "litigation privilege does not apply when the facts are such that application of the privilege would defeat the public policy considerations justifying the privilege." *Scott*, 22 Wn. App.2d 258, 267-68 (citing *Mason*, 19 Wn. App.2d 803, 830). Under *Mason*, this "exception applies in a narrow set of circumstances where an attorney misappropriates a judicial proceeding to achieve an improper and extrinsic end, immunity neither preserves integrity of the judicial process, nor further[s] the administration of justice." [Internal quotation marks omitted.] *Mason*, 19 Wn. App.2d at 837 (quoting *Bruce*, 113 Wn.2d at 126; *Fite v. Lee*, 11 Wn. App 21, 28, 521 P.2d 964 (1974)); *Scott*, 22 Wn. App.2d at 268.

Stated a different way, if an attorney's conduct is to accomplish an end unrelated to the legitimate goals of the legal

proceedings, such conduct is not shielded by the litigation privilege. *Mason*, 19 Wn. App.2d 803, 840.

However, contrary to *Mason*, Division I "decline[d] to follow *Mason*'s recognition of a public policy exception to the litigation doctrine[,]" adding that the court does "not recognize a case-by-case 'public policy exception' to the litigation privilege doctrine that looks to a defendant's intent." *Rayan*, *Slp. Opn.* at 11, 15. This contrasts with *Scott* that "parties and attorneys can be liable for tortious use of the legal process so long as a plaintiff can prove the elements of malicious prosecution or malicious use of the legal system." *Scott*, 22 Wn. App.2d 258, 265.

The Division I rationale for rejecting *Mason* was based on three expressed assumptions: (1) a tortfeasor's intent in making an actionable statement is not necessarily related to whether the statement was "pertinent" to the proceeding at issue; (2) the main goal of the litigation privilege is to deter even the initiation of lawsuits so as to avoid "chilling the speech" or shading the testimony of potential witnesses; and (3) it is unnecessary in

every individual case to find a "compelling policy justification" for the litigation privilege, because the privilege has *already* been extended "to cover most, if not all, participants in court proceedings." *Rayan*, *Slp. Opn.* at 12-15 (citing *Bender v. Seattle*, 99 Wn.2d 582, 600-601, 664 P.2d 492 (1983); *Mason*, 19 Wn. 2d 803, 843; and *Deatherage*, 134 Wn.2d 131, 136-37)).

Division I looked cursorily at Young's claims of defamation, false light and civil conspiracy and determined that the statements in those claims were "pertinent" to the court proceeding, and therefore affirmed the dismissal of all three claims on summary judgment, noting that "any falsity in the statements was subject to checks by the trial court. . .." *Rayan*, *Slp. Opn.* at 17-18.

Division I also declined to adopt the "larger actionable conspiracy" exception to the litigation privilege as advocated by Young, the court finding no binding Washington case law supporting such theory. *Rayan, Slp. Opn.* at 21. Division I rejected the cogent reasoning of *FMC Technologies, Inc. v.* 

Edwards, 464 F. Supp.2d 1063, 1068 (W.D. Wash. 2006) because it was non-Washington authority. Slp. Opn. at 22-23.

Division I noted that the term "larger[] actionable conspiracy" was used one time in *Dexter v. Spokane County Health District*, 75 Wn. App. 372, 375, 884 P.2d 1353 (1994) in reference to jurisdictions which recognize an exception to the litigation privilege "when perjury is merely a 'step in the accomplishment of some larger, actionable conspiracy." *Rayan, Slp. Opn.* at 22. However, the court rejected application of that exception to the instant case because the court believed *Dexter* dealt not with an exception to the litigation privilege, but with "an exception to the general rule that no civil cause of action exists for perjury." *Id*.

The bottom line is that the published decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals in *Rayan* is in direct conflict with published decisions of Division II in *Mason* and *Scott*. Accordingly, this Court should accept review of *Rayan* to resolve that conflict.

2. The Petition Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

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