FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/7/2023 11:28 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 102298-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO.: 84426-1-I

DAN YOUNG, an individual,

Petitioner.

v.

TODD S. RAYAN and JANE DOE RAYAN, husband and wife; SAMUEL WILKENS and JANE DOE WILKENS, husband and wife; PENNY ROHR and JOHN DOE ROHR, wife and husband; and ALTHAUSER RAYAN ABBARNO, a Washington Limited Liability Partnership,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

John C. Versnel, III, WSBA #17755 Andrew H. Gustafson, WSBA #51399 Attorneys for Respondents

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Mr. Young does not argue that grounds for review exist under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (3).

Mr. Young has asserted grounds for Supreme Court

review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4) only. He does not offer any argument in support of any other basis for this court to accept review. Mr. Young therefore concedes that review is not warranted under either RAP 13.4(1) or RAP 13.4(3).

B. Review is not warranted under any of the grounds in RAP 13.4.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, this Court will grant a petition for review only:

(1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Mr. Young claims – wrongly – that grounds for review exist under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4). However, this Petition should be denied because it fails to satisfy any basis for Supreme Court review.

Furthermore, nothing in RAP 13.4 or in Washington law entitles Mr. Young to review by this Court simply because he disagrees with the Court of Appeals' decision:

[I]t is a mistake for a party seeking review to make the perceived injustice the focus of attention in the petition for review. RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. ...

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or presented decided generally. significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question. Each of the four alternative criteria of RAP 13.4(b) supports this view. The court accepts review sparingly, only approximately 10 percent of Failure to show the court the "big the time. picture" will likely diminish the already statistically slim prospects of review.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (1998) (italics in original).

Mr. Young suggests Division I erred when it "looked cursorily at Young's claims . . . and determined that the

statements in those claims were 'pertinent' to the court proceeding." Petition for Review at 24. This is untrue. Yet even if it was, none of RAP 13.4(b)'s four enumerated grounds permits Supreme Court review merely to correct errors by the Court of Appeals. Rather, Mr. Young must show that this case is sufficiently exceptional to "transcend the particular application of the law in question." Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11. He shows nothing of the sort.

C. This Court should not accept review, because doing so would result in the issuance of an advisory opinion.

Mr. Young contends this Court should accept review principally because Division One declined to follow the public policy exception to the litigation doctrine recognized in *Mason* v. *Mason*, 19 Wn. App.2d 803, 831, 497 P.3d 431 (2021). The public policy exception outlined in *Mason* is as follows:

In *Mason*, we noted that litigation privilege does not apply when the facts are such that application of the privilege would defeat the public policy considerations justifying the privilege. This exception applies in a narrow set of circumstances where any attorney "misappropriates a judicial"

proceeding to achieve an improper and extrinsic end," immunity "neither preserves 'integrity of the judicial process,' nor 'further[s] the administration of justice."

Scott v. Am. Express Nat.Bank, 22 Wn. App. 2d 258, 267-68, 514 P.3d 695 (2022) (citations omitted).

Mason concerned abuse of process and intentional infliction of emotional distress claims made by a former wife against her former husband and his attorney for their conduct during the underlying dissolution proceedings. *Mason*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 830. The former husband was sanctioned for, among other things, misrepresenting the existence of a key document, an I-864 affidavit, promising the United States government that he would provide continual financial support to his then wife. Id. at 813. Division II reversed the trial court's dismissal of a claim of abuse of process, finding "the traditional public policy considerations that justify application of litigation privilege to bar other tort claims filed against attorneys do not apply in the narrow context of abuse of process." *Id.* at 834. In addition, the *Mason* Court declined to

apply the litigation privilege to the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim due to abusive litigation tactics. *Id.* at 843.

The Court identified inconsistencies between the goals of the judicial system and the intent of an abuse of process tortfeasor, then concluded an attorney would not be shielded by the litigation privilege where the attorney "intentionally employed legal process for an inappropriate and extrinsic end." *Id.* at 835. A more recent Division II case articulated the *Mason* holding as follows: "we apply litigation privilege where the conduct bears some relation to a judicial proceeding and where compelling public policy justifications support its application." *Scott*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 265-66.

In the present action, Division I declined to follow Mason's public policy exception to the litigation privilege doctrine on the following grounds: (1) a tortfeasor's intent in making a statement is not necessarily related to whether the statement was pertinent to the proceeding to the judicial

proceeding at issue; (2) the broad purpose of the litigation privilege is to prevent the threat of litigation so as to avoid chilling testimony, and the case-by-case application of *Mason*'s standard, which looks to a defendant's actual intent, will result in protracted discovery and litigation; and (3) *Mason* does not root its analysis in relevant case law, and the litigation privilege doctrine fundamentally serves a compelling public policy by ensuring participants in litigation may speak freely and openly in court proceedings without fear of ensuing litigation. *Young*, Slp. Opn. at 14-15.

Because Division I elected not to follow *Mason*, Mr. Young claims this Court should accept review. Mr. Young is mistaken.

This Court should not accept review, because doing so would result in an advisory opinion. "Issuing an advisory opinion is allowable "only on those rare occasions where the interest of the public in the resolution of an issue is overwhelming." *Bloome v. Haverly*, 154 Wn. App. 129, 141,

225 P.3d 330 (2010) (citation omitted). No such circumstances remotely exist here.

Here, while Division I declined to follow Mason's recognition of a public policy exception to the litigation privilege doctrine, the trial court considered the exceptions to the litigation privilege discussed in *Mason* and *Scott* then determined Mr. Young had no admissible evidence to support the application of these exceptions. RP 35-37. Specifically, the trial court found "the record is void of any admissible or non-speculative assertions" establishing the existence of a conspiracy. RP 37 (Emphasis added). Indeed, Mr. Young does not have a shred of admissible evidence whatsoever suggesting Althauser "intentionally employed legal process for an inappropriate and extrinsic end."

Because the trial court determined Mr. Young lacked admissible evidence to support the application of any exceptions to the litigation privilege, accepting review would lead to the issuance of an advisory opinion. If this Court

accepts review and affirms Division I's ruling, Mr. Young's claims remain dismissed. If this Court accepts review and determines Division I should have followed the exceptions to the privilege outlined in *Mason* and its progeny, then Mr. Young's claims still fail because he has no admissible evidence in support of these exceptions. Either way, Mr. Young loses.

This Petition for Review does not assert the trial court erred in dismissing Mr. Young's claims under *Mason*. Mr. Young's claims are futile, because they fail as matter of law regardless of whether *Mason* applies. Thus, this Court should decline to accept review to avoid the issuance of an advisory opinion. Mr. Young's Petition for Review must be denied.

D. This case presents no issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This petition plainly does not concern an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. This Court has addressed what constitutes an issue of public interest:

The criteria to be considered in determining whether sufficient public interest is involved are: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented; (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination which will provide future guidance to public officers; (3) the likelihood that the question will reoccur.

Dep't of Ecology v. Adsit, 103 Wn.2d 698, 705, 694 P.2d 1065 (1985); Sorensen v. City of Bellingham, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972). Case law shows that a question that meets these criteria will almost always implicate constitutional principles or the validity of statutes or other legislative enactments. In re Myers, 105 Wn.2d 257, 714 P.2d 303 (1986); Gen. Tel. Co. of the Northwest, Inc. v. City of Bothell, 105 Wn.2d 597, 716 P.2d 879 (1986); State ex rel. Chapman v. Superior Court, 15 Wn.2d 637, 642-43, 131 P.2d 958 (1942); State ex rel. Yakima Amusement Co. v. Yakima County, 192 Wn. 179, 73 P.2d 759 (1937).

Here, this petition does not present a question that is public in nature, impact the conduct of governmental officers, or pose a constitutional or statutory challenge. It is a dispute between private parties concerning the manner in which an attorney unlawfully obtained a copy of a will from a law firm.

The petitioner suggests that a desire to expand the scope of redress for those purportedly harmed by privileged statements constitutes an issue of substantial public importance that should be determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Pet. Br. at 26-29. Tellingly, the petitioner cites no authority in support of this proposition. "Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none." *DeHeer v. Seattle Post–Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962).

Inexplicably, Mr. Young cites Proverbs and an article claiming the "Christian majority" in this country is dwindling to somehow support his baseless argument that this matter presents an issue of substantial public importance that should be determined by this Court. As detailed above, this Court has spelled out criteria to be considered in determining what

constitutes an issue of substantial public interest, and this case plainly does not meet any of these criteria. Thus, the petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest, and this Court should deny review.

VI. CONCLUSION

Mr. Young has not presented grounds under RAP 13.4(b) on which this Court should grant review. Accordingly, Althauser respectfully requests that Mr. Young's Petition for Review be denied.